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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Ben Alan Burkey asks this Court to accept review of the

Court of Appeals' decision that affirmed his convictions of first degree felony

murder; first degi-ee kidnapping; conspiracy to commit first degree

kidnapping; first degree robbery; and first degree assault.

B. DECISION FOR WHICH REVIEW IS SOUGHT

The Court of Appeals, Division III, unpublished opinion filed on

February 1, 2018. A copy of this unpublished opinion is attached as

Appendix A.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Issue 1: whether this Court should accept review under RAP
13.4(b)(2), because the trial court erred by admitting evidence that
Mr. Burkey head-butted Mariana Panessa.

Issue 2: Whether this Court should accept review under RAP
13.4(b)(i) of (3), because trial court violated Mr. Burkey's
constitutional right to a unanimous jury verdict by failing to give a
unanimity instruction for first degree assault.

Issue 3: Whether this Court should accept review under RAP
13.4(b)(1) or (3), because the trial court erred by denying Mr.
Burkey's motion for a new trial based on the State's failure to
disclose its plea agreement with Patty Lascelles to defense counsel.

Issue 4: Whether this Court should accept review under RAP
13.4(b)(2), (3) or (4), because the trial court erred by not giving the
jury a cautionary instruction regarding accomplice testimony from
Patty Lascelles, and defense counsel's performance was deficient for
not proposing the instruction.

Issue 5: Whether this Court should accept review under RAP
13.4(b)(3) or (4), because the trial court violated Mr. Burkey's Sixth
Amendment right to confrontation and right to a fair trial when it
allowed previous trial transcripts of alleged unavailable witness Patty
Lascelles without first making a determination of indicia of reliability.



D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ben Alan Burkey met Rick Tiwater in August 2005. (PL's Ex. 136,

pg. 782-783). Mr. Burkey heard Mr. Tiwater was a "snitch." (RP 461, 475,

500-501; PL's Ex. 136, pg. 783-784). One of the people Mr. Burkey heard

this from was an individual he knew, James Tesch. (PL's Ex. 136, pg. 778-

779,781-782,784).

Mr. Tiwater was at Mr. Burkey's house on the evening of September

4, 2005. (RP 299, 465; PL's Ex. 133, pg. 530-533; PL's Ex. 134, pg. 492-

495, 502; PL's Ex. 136, pg. 796). Mr. Burkey sent an individual who was

living with him at the time, Patty Lascelles, to ask Mr. Tesch to come over.

(RP 486-487; PL's Ex. 133, pg. 525, 533-536, 622, 624; PL's Ex. 134, pg.

498-499; PL's Ex. 136, pg. 805-807; PL's Ex. 137, pg. 17, 54-55, 58-59).

Mr. Tesch came over to Mr. Burkey's house. (RP 465; PL's Ex. 133,

pg. 544-545; PL's Ex. 137, pg. 18-19). He hit Mr. Tiwater in the head with a

ball-peen hammer. (RP 300, 312; PL's Ex. 133, pg. 547, 551, 553, 563-564,

607; PL's Ex. 137, pg. 20-21). Mr. Burkey told Mr. Tesch to stop. (PL's Ex.

133, pg. 545-548, 605-608; PL's Ex. 137, pg. 18-21, 61-62).

Mr. Tesch put Mr. Tiwater into a Ford Thunderbird that was in Mr.

Burkey's possession. (RP 300, 466-467, 473; PL's Ex. 133, pg. 560-562,

613-614; PL's Ex. 137, pg. 26-27). Mr. Burkey got into the passenger seat of

this car, and Mr. Tesch drove. (RP 466-467; PL's Ex. 133, pg. 613-614; PL's

Ex. 137, pg. 27). They ended up in the woods near Elk, Washington. (RP

183-185, 468; PL's Ex. 137, pg. 30). According to Mr. Burkey, Mr. Tesch hit



Mr. Tiwater in the head a couple of times with a golf club and then ran over

him with the car. (RP 301, 314-315, 469-470, 477-478, 479-480; PL's Ex.

133, pg. 574; PL's Ex. 137, pg. 35-36). Also according to Mr. Burkey, Mr.

Tesch threatened to kill Mr. Burkey's son if he told anyone what happened.

(RP 301-302; PL's Ex. 133, pg. 574; PL's Ex. 137, pg. 37-38). On September

5, 2005, Mr. Tiwater was found dead. (RP 183-185, 189-190, 212-213, 229-

230, 268).

The State charged Mi". Burkey with the following counts, as an actor

and/or an accomplice of Mr. Tesch: first degree murder, first degree

kidnapping; conspiracy to commit first degree kidnapping; first degree

robbery; and first degree assault.^ (CP 419-421).

The case proceeded to a jury trial in Jime 2006. (CP 21-28, 74-84).

Mr. Burkey was found guilty as charged. (CP 9-20, 46-62, 74-84). Mr.

Burkey appealed, and the Court of Appeals reversed and remanded his case

for a new trial, based upon a public trial right violation. (CP 66, 73-84).

In December 2015, a second jury trial was held. (CP 231; RP 13-660;

Pl.'sExs. 133, 134, 135, 136, 137). Witnesses testified consistent with the

facts stated above. (RP 176-537).

During its case-in-chief, the State sought to admit evidence, through

the testimony of Mr. Tesch's girlfriend, Mariana Panessa, that Mr. Burkey

had head-butted Ms. Panessa earlier on the day in question, with Mr. Tesch

' The State also charged Mr. Burkey with conspiracy to commit first degree
robbery. (CP 420). The trial court granted the State's motion to dismiss this count. (CP 50,
63-64).



present. (RP 339-344). The State argued this evidence was relevant as to

Mr. Burkey's fear of Mr. Tesch. (RP 339-340). The State argued Mr.

Burkey, in his cross-examination of the State's preceding witnesses, had

brought out evidence that Mr. Burkey was afraid of Mr. Tesch. (RP 339-340,

342, 346).

At this point in the testimony, only two law enforcement officers had

testified to statements made by Mr. Burkey. (RP 296-303, 311-316, 322-

329). On direct examination, the State presented testimony that Mr. Burkey

told a law enforcement officer that Mr. Tesch threatened to kill Mr. Burkey's

son ifhe told anyone what happened. (RP 301-302). Mr. Burkey did not

cross-examine these two law enforcement officers regarding these this threat.

(RP 306-316, 330-333). He did cross-examine one law enforcement officer,

Spokane Sheriffs Office Detective Mike Ricketts, asking whether Mr.

Burkey told him "ifhe told you what he knew he felt he would end up in a

coffin[.]" (RP 332-333). Detective Rickets testified Mr. Burkey did make

this statement to him. (RP 333).

Mr. Burkey objected to the evidence that he had head-butted Ms.

Panessa under ER 403, 404, and 405, arguing the evidence was extremely

prejudicial, irrelevant, and impennissible character evidence. (RP 41, 340-

342, 345-346). The trial court ruled the evidence admissible, finding its

probative value outweighs its prejudice, and stating: "[tjhere was a lot of

testimony presented yesterday through the detective that Mr. Burkey made

statements about his fear of Mr. Tesch ... [bjecause that was raised, I think



this event, although prejudicial, is probative to show the reasonableness of his

fears." (RP 343-344, 346-347).

Ms. Panessa testified that Mr. Burkey head-butted her at Mr. Tesch's

home earlier on the day in question, while Mr. Tesch was present in the

home. (RP 361-364).

In addition to the live witnesses, after deeming several witnesses

unavailable to testify, the trial court allowed the State to read into evidence,

during its case-in-chief, transcripts of these witnesses and Mr. Burkey

himself from the June 2006 trial. (RP 16-18, 28-40, 175, 347-357, 383, 420-

421, 437-441, 445-446, 456, 490-499; PL's Exs. 133, 134, 135, 136, 137).

The witnesses included Ms. Lascelles. (RP 383, 420-421, 437-441, 445-446;

Pl.'s Exs. 133, 134, 135, 136, 137).

According to the transeript of her testimony fi-oni the June 2006 trial,

Ms. Lascelles testified Mr. Burkey sent her to Mr. Tesch's house to ask Mr.

Tesch to come over three times. (Pl.'s Ex. 133, pg. 622). She testified that

on one of the trips, Mr. Burkey told her to tell Mr. Tesch, "I'm not a punk or

a bitch and he needs to get down here." (Pl.'s Ex. 133, pg. 624-625). Ms.

Lascelles testified that Mr. Burkey told Mr. Tesch to stop when Mr. Tesch

was attacking Mr. Tiwater in Mr. Burkey's house. (Pl.'s Ex. 133, pg. 545-

548, 605-608).

Ms. Laeelles testified that after they left in the Ford Thunderbird, Mr.

Burkey and Mr. Tesch arrived back at Mr. Burkey's house around daylight.

(Pl.'s Ex. 133, pg. 565-566). She testified Mr. Tesch had Mr. Tiwater's



leather coat and chaps, and a golf club. (PL's Ex. 133, pg. 566). Ms.

Lascelles testified both Mr. Tesch and Mr. Burkey told her to clean the

leather coat and chaps. (PL's Ex. 133, pg. 567-568).

According to the transcript of his testimony from the June 2006 trial,

Mr. Burkey testified he slapped Mr. Tiwater while he was at his house on the

date in question, but that he did not lay a hand on Mr. Tiwater after that.^

(PL's Ex. 136, pg. 798-801; PL's Ex. 137, pg. 22, 45, 52-53). While they

were in the woods, Mr. Burkey denied striking Mr. Tiwater, or encouraging

Mr. Tesch to harm Mr. Tiwater. (PL's Ex. 137, pg. 35-36, 38, 45).

In its closing argument, the State did not, elect a distinct act of assault

for the first degree assault count. (RP 595-596). The trial court did not issue

a unanimity instruction. (CP 222-261; RP 556-576).

Mr. Burkey was found guilty on all five counts submitted to the jury.

(CP 231, 266-275). Following the verdict, Mr. Burkey filed a motion for a

new trial under CrR 7.8 (a)(2) and (8). (CP 291-292). Mr. Burkey argued, in

relevant part, that the State's failure to disclose its plea agreement with Ms.

Lascelles to defense counsel and the jury violated his constitutional due

process rights, Brady v. Maryland^, and CrR 4.7(a). (CP 295-327). He

alleged Ms. Lascelles was given a plea agreement that consisted of dropping

her charges of first degree robbery and first degree criminal assistance in

exchange for her testimony. (CP 295, 302-307). In support of this motion,

defense counsel submitted an affidavit, stating "[n]o information or

^ Mr. Burkey did not testify during the second jury trial. (RP 176-537).
3 Brady v. Maiyland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S. Ct. 1194,10 L. Ed. 2d 215 (1963).



documentation regarding a plea agreement between the State and Ms.

Lascelles, a key witness for the State, was ever disclosed or made available to

me." (CP 293-294, 360-361).

In its response to Mr. Burkey's motion for a new trial, the State

alleged that defense counsel was aware of the plea agreement. (CP 334-335,

338-340).

The trial court denied Mr. Burkey's motion for a new trial, and

entered a written order incorporating its oral ruling. (CP 368-376; RP 665-

669). In its oral ruling, the trial court stated:

[I]n order for the Court to grant a new trial on this basis, the Court
would have to find that the evidence would probably change the
result of the trial, the evidence was discovered since the trial, the
evidence could not have been discovered before trial by the
exercise of due diligence, the evidence is material, and the
evidence is riot merely cumulative or impeaching. Here, the Court
finds that there's little likelihood that that evidence would have

changed the result of the trial.

[TJhat information could have been discovered before trial simply
by either reviewing the court files or Mr. Maxey did have an
opportunity to speak with Ms. Lascelles.

(CP 374; RP 668).

Mr. Burkey appealed. (CP 407). The Court of Appeals affirmed his

convictions. See Appendix A. Mr. Burkey now seeks review by this Court.

The facts are further set forth in the Appellant's Opening Brief,

Appellant's Reply Brief, and in the Statement of Additional Grounds for

Review. The facts as outlined in each of these pleadings are incorporated by

reference herein.



E. ARGUMENT

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict
with a decision of the Supreme Court; or

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict
with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or

(3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution
of the State of Washington or of the United States is
involved; or

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public
■■ interest that should be determined by the Supreme

Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

Issue 1: Whether this Court should accept review under RAP
13.4(b)(2), because the trial court erred by admitting evidence that Mr.
Burkey head-butted Mariana Panessa.

Review by this Court is merited because the Court of Appeals'

decision conflicts other decisions of the Court of Appeals addressing when

the State can offer evidence of specific acts of misconduct by a defendant.

See State v. Warren, 134 Wn. App. 44, 138 P.3d 1081 (2006), aff'd, 165

Wn.2d 17, 195 P.3d 940 (2008); State v. Avendano-Lopez, 79 Wn. App. 706,

904 P.2d 324 (1995); RAP 13.4(b)(2).

"While ER 404(a) prohibits evidence of a person's character to prove

'confoimity,' the rule provides an exception when the accused offers

evidence of his character." Warren, 134 Wn. App. at 64. '"The long

standing rule in this state is that a criminal defendant who places his character

in issue by testifying as to his own past good behavior, may be cross-

8



examined as to specific acts of misconduct unrelated to the crime charged.'"

Id. at 64-65 (quoting State v. Brush, 32 Wn. App. 445, 448, 648 P.2d 897

(1982)).

To open the door to such evidence of specific acts of misconduct by

the defendant, '"the defendant, or a witness brought forward by the

defendant, must first testify to a trait of character.'" Avendano-Lopez, 79

Wn. App. at 716 (quoting Brush, 32 Wn. App. at 450). Under the open door

policy, the initial question is whether the defendant's case-in-chief placed his

character in issue. Brush, 32 Wn. App. at 451.

Here, during its case-in-chief, the State sought to admit evidence,

through the testimony of Ms. Panessa, that Mr. Burkey had head-butted her

earlier on the day in question, with Mr. Tesch present. (RP 339-344). The

trial court erred in admitting the evidence that Mr. Burkey had head-butted

Ms. Panessa. Mr. Burkey had not yet put his character in issue. See

Avendano-Lopez, 79 Wn. App. at 716 (quoting Brush, 32 Wn. App. at 450).

The challenged evidence was admitted during the State's case-in-chief; at this

point, neither Mr. Burkey nor a witness presented by Mr. Burkey had testified

to a trait of his character, that would open the door to evidence of the specific

act of misconduct, head-butting Ms. Panessa. See id. Because Mr. Burkey

had not opened the door to the admission of this evidence, the trial court

abused its discretion by admitting it. See Warren, 134 Wn. App. at 65.

At this point in the testimony where the testimony by Ms. Panessa

was offered, the only cross-examination conducted by Mr. Burkey that



related to his fears was of Detective Ricketts, asking whether Mr. Burkey told

him "if he told you what he knew he felt he would end up in a coffin[.]" (RP

332-333). However, this testimony was a generalized fear; it did not specify

that Mr. Burkey's fear was of Mr. Tesch. In addition, this cross-examination

did not portray Mr. Burkey as peaceful, and therefore did not open the door

to rebuttal evidence of his alleged assaultive conduct against Ms. Panessa.

In addition to violating ER 404(a) and the open door policy, the

evidence that Mr. Burkey head-butted Ms. Panessa was irrelevant, and more

prejudicial than probative. ER 401 (defining relevant evidence). The

evidence that Mr. Burkey head-butted Ms. Panessa earlier on the day in

question was irrelevant because it had no bearing on whether or not Mr.

Burkey was an actor or an accomplice to the charged crimes against Mr.

Tiwater. In addition, relevant evidence "may be excluded if its probative

value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice...." ER

403. Any probative value of the evidence that Mi*. Burkey head-butted Ms.

Panessa was substantially outweighed by the danger that the jury would

conclude Mr. Burkey was involved with the offenses against Mr. Tiwater

because of this earlier alleged conduct against Ms. Panessa.

In order to warrant reversal, the improperly admitted evidence must

be prejudicial. See Avendano-Lopez, 79 Wn. App. at 716-17. The evidence

that Mr. Burkey head-butted Ms. Panessa was prejudicial. The key question

for the jury was whether Mr. Burkey acted as an accomplice to Mr. Tesch on

the day in question. There was not substantial evidence of Mr. Burkey's guilt

10



as an accomplice. Because the trial court erred by admitting evidence that

Mr. Burkey head-butted Mariana Panessa, and the admission of this evidence

was prejudicial, Mr. Burkey's convictions should be reversed and remanded

for a new trial.

Issue 2: Whether this Court should accept review under RAP
13.4(h)(1) or (3), because trial court violated Mr. Burkey's constitutional
right to a unanimous jury verdict hy failing to give a unanimity
instruction for flrst degree assault.

Review by this Court is merited because the Court of Appeals'

decision conflicts with decisions of this Court addressing when a unanimity

instruction is required. See State v. Petrich, 101 Wn.2d 556, 683 P.2d 173

(1984); State v. Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d 403, 756 P.2d 105 (1988); State v.

Handran, 113 Wn.2d 11, 775 P.2d 453 (1989); State v. Crane, 116 Wn.2d

315, 804 P.2d 10 (1991); RAP 13.4(b)(1). Review by this Court is also

merited because the issue raises a significant question of law under the

Washington Constitution, a defendant's right to a unanimous jury verdict.

See State v. Ortega-Martinez, 124 Wn.2d 702, 707, 881 P.2d 231 (1994);

Wash. Const, art. I, § 21; RAP 13.4(b)(3).

In order to convict a defendant of a criminal charge, the jury must be

unanimous that the criminal act charged has been committed. State v.

Camarillo, 115 Wn.2d 60, 63, 794 P.2d 850 (1990); see also Petrich, 101

Wn.2d at 569, modified in part by Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d at 405-06. In eases

where multiple aets are alleged, any one of which could constitute the crime

charged, the jury must unanimously agree on the act or incident that

constitutes the crime. Kitchen, \\0^n.26.aXA\\\ see also Petrich, 101

11



Wn.2d at 572. In such a multiple acts case, the State must either "elect

which of such acts is relied upon for a conviction or the court must instruct

the jury to agree on a specific criminal act." State v. Coleman, 159 Wn.2d

509, 511, 150 P.3d 1126 (2007).

Here, the State charged Mr. Burkey, as an actor or accomplice, with

first degree assault of Mr. Tiwater. (CP 254, 420-421; RP 570). The State

alleged Mr. Burkey committed first degree assault in several distinct ways, at

two different locations, Mr. Burkey's house and in the woods near Elk. (RP

595-596). The State did not elect one act upon which to seek a conviction, or

issue a unanimity instruction. (CP 222-261; RP 556-576, 595-596).

A unanimity instruction is not required "where the evidence indicates

a 'continuing course of conduct'." Handran, 113 Wn.2d at 17 (citing

Petrich, 101 Wn.2d at 571). "To determine whether criminal conduct

constitutes one continuing act, the facts must be evaluated in a commonsense

manner." Id. {ciimg Petrich, 101 Wn.2d at 571). "[WJhere the evidence

involves conduct at different times and places, then the evidence tends to

show 'several distinct acts'." Id.

Here, the State alleged Mr. Burkey committed first degree in several

distinct ways, at two different locations. (RP 595-596). The evidence

involved assaultive conduct at both different times (11:30 p.m., and several

hours later, between 2:30 a.m. and 4:30 a.m. and daylight), and different

places (Mr. Burkey's house and in the woods near Elk). (RP 595-596).

Therefore, viewed in a commonsense manner, the evidence showed ''several

12



distinct acts" rather than a "continuing course of conduct." Under these facts,

a unanimity instruction was required. See Handran, 113 Wn.2d at 17 (citing

Petrich, 101 Wn.2d at 571).

The trial court's failure to instruct the jury on unanimity was a

constitutional error. See State v. Bobenhouse, 166 Wn.2d 881, 893, 214 P.3d

907 (2009). This error was not harmless. A rational juror could have had

reasonable doubt as to whether Mr. Burkey was an actor or an accomplice to

the alleged assault of Mr. Tiwater with the ball-peen hammer at Mr. Burkey's

house. See Coleman, 159 Wn.2d at 512 (citing Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d at 411-

12). This court should reverse Ms. Burkey's conviction for first degree

assault and order a new trial before a properly instructed jury.

Issue 3: Whether this Court should accept review under RAP
13.4(b)(1) or (3), because the trial court erred by denying Mr. Burkey's
motion for a new trial based on the State's failure to disclose its plea
agreement with Patty Lascelles to defense counsel.

Review by this Court is merited because the Court of Appeals'

decision conflicts with a decision of this Court addressing when the State

must disclose evidence to the defense. See In re Fers. Restraint of Pirtle, 136

Wn.2d 467, 965 P.2d 593 (1998); RAP 13.4(b)(1). Review by this Court is

also merited because the issue raises a significant question of law under the

Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States, a defendant's

right to due process of law. See Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S. Ct.

1194, 10 L. Ed. 2d 215 (1963); RAP 13.4(b)(3).

"In every criminal trial, the State faces the well established discovery

obligation to turn over to the defense evidenee in its possession or knowledge

13



-r

both favorable to the defendant and material to guilt or punishment." Pirtle,

136 Wn.2d at 477 (citing Brady, 373 U.S. at 87). "Therefore, the State must

disclose any favorable treatment accorded witnesses for their testimony and

may not permit a false view of that treatment to go before the jury." Id. at

477-78. A defendant's claim that the State failed to disclose such favorable

treatment is subject to a harmless error analysis. Id. at 478; see also State v.

Dunivin, 65 Wn. App. 728, 734, 829 P.2d 799 (1992).

Here, Mr. Burkey filed a motion for a new trial under CrR 7.5(a)(2)

and (8), arguing, in relevant part, that the State's failure to disclose its plea

agreement with Ms. Lascelles to defense counsel and the jury violated his

constitutional due process rights, Brady, and CrR 4.7(a). (CP 291-292, 295-

327); see also Brady, 373 U.S. at 83. The State alleged defense counsel was

made aware of the plea agreement, and defense counsel disagreed. (CP 338-

340,360-361). The trial court denied Mr. Burkey's motion. (CP 368-376;

RP 665-669).

The trial court erred by denying Mr. Burkey's motion for a new trial

based on the State's failure to disclose its plea.agreement with Ms. Lascelles

to defense counsel. The State was obligated to disclose to defense counsel its

plea agreement with Ms. Lascelles. See Pirtle, 136 Wn.2d at 477-78.

Although the State claimed it had made such a disclosure, defense counsel

stated in an affidavit that he had not received the information. (CP 338-340,

360-361).

14



The error was not harmless. Ms. Lascelles testified to two key pieces

of evidence that were not testified to by Mr. Burkey or any other witness.

(Pl.'s Ex. 133, pg. 567-568, 624, 625). First, Ms. Lascelles testified that on

one of her trips to ask Mr. Tesch to come over to Mr. Burkey's house on the

day in question, Mr. Burkey told her to tell Mr. Tesch, "I'm not a punk or a

bitch and he needs to get down here." (Pl.'s Ex. 133, pg. 624, 625). Second,

Ms. Lascelles testified that after Mr. Burkey and Mr. Tesch arrived back at

Mr. Burkey's house around daylight, both Mr. Tesch and Mr. Burkey told her

to clean the leather coat and chaps. (Pl.'s Ex. 133, pg. 567-568). Both of

these pieces of evidence implicate Mr. Burkey as having a greater

involvement in the crimes against Mr. Tiwater, then testified to by the other

witnesses. It carmot be said that the jury would have returned the same

verdicts if Ms. Lascelles' testimony could have been impeached by the

existence of her plea agreement with the State. See Dunivin, 65 Wn. App. at

734.

Because the trial court erred by denying Mr. Burkey's motion for a

new trial, and the error was not harmless, his convictions should be reversed

and remanded for a new trial.

Issue 4: Whether this Court should accept review under RAP
13.4(2), (3) or (4), because the trial court erred by not giving the jury a
cautionary instruction regarding accomplice testimony from Patty
Lascelles, and defense counsel's performance was deficient for not
proposing the instruction.

Review by this Court is merited because the Court of Appeals'

decision conflicts another decision of the Court of Appeals addressing when a
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cautionary instruction regarding accomplice testimony must be given. See

State V. Allen, 161 Wn. App. 727, 255 P.3d 784 (2011); RAP 13.4(b)(2).

Review by this Court is also merited because the issue raises a significant

question of law under the Constitution of the United States, a defendant's

right to effective assistance of counsel. See U.S. Const, amend. VI; RAP

13.4(b)(3). Review is also merited because ensuring the right to effective

assistance of counsel is an issue of substantial public interest. RAP

13.4(b)(4).

As Mr. Burkey explained in his Statement of Additional Grounds, the

trial court erred by not giving the jury a cautionary instruction regarding the

accomplice testimony of Ms. Lascelles. See Statement of Additional

Grounds, pgs. 6-8; Allen, 161 Wn. App. at 745; 11 Wash. Prac., Pattern Jury

Instr. Crim. WPIC 6.05 (4th Ed. 2016). Mr. Burkey also received ineffective

assistance of counsel when defense counsel did not propose such an

instruction. See Statement of Additional Grounds, pgs. 6-8; U.S. Const,

amend. VI; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 685-86, 104 S. Ct. 2052,

80 L.Ed. 2d 674 (1984).

The arguments set forth by Mr. Burkey in his Statement of Additional

Grounds are incorporated by reference herein. See Statement of Additional

Grounds, pgs. 6-8. The trial court erred by not giving the jury a cautionary

instruction regarding accomplice testimony from Ms. Lascelles, and defense

counsel's performance was deficient for not proposing the instruction. For

these reasons, a new trial is warranted.
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Issue 5: Whether this Court should accept review under RAP
13.4(b)(3) or (4), because the trial court violated Mr. Burkey's Sixth
Amendment right to confrontation and right to a fair trial when it
allowed previous trial transcripts of alleged unavailable witness Patty
Lascelles without first making a determination of indicia of reliability.

Review by this Court is merited because the issue raises a significant

question of law under the Constitution of the United States, a defendant's

right to confront witnesses. See U.S. Const, amend. VI; RAP 13.4(b)(3).

Review is also merited because ensuring the right to confront witnesses is an

issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

As Mr. Burkey explained in his Statement of Additional Grounds, his

Sixth Amendment right to confront witnesses and.his right to a fair trial was

violated when the trial court allowed the previous trial transcript of Ms.

Lascelles into evidence without making a detennination of indicia of

reliability. See Statement of Additional Grounds, pgs. 9-11; State v. Rice,

120 Wn.2d 549, 565-69, 844 P.2d 416 (1993).

The arguments set forth by Mr. Burkey in his Statement of Additional

Grounds are incorporated by reference herein. See Statement of Additional

Grounds, pgs. 9-11. The trial court violated Mr. Burkey's Sixth Amendment

right to confrontation and right to a fair trial when it allowed previous trial

transcripts of alleged unavailable witness Patty Lascelles without first making

a determination of indicia of reliability. For this reason, a new trial is

warranted.
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F. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated herein, Mr. Burkey respectfully requests that

this Court grant review pursuant to 13.4(b).

Respectfully submitted this 27th day of February, 2018.

iiyS. Reuter, WSBA #38374
tomey for the Petitioner

18



IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON

Plaintiff/Respondent
vs.

BEN ALAN BURKEY

Defendant/Appellant

COANo. 34093-7-III

PROOF OF SERVICE

I, Jill S. Reuter, assigned counsel for the Appellant herein, do hereby
certify under penalty of perjury that on February 27, 2018,1 deposited for mailing
by U.S. Postal Service first class mail, postage prepaid, a true and correct copy of
the attached Petition for Review to:

Ben Alan Burkey, DOC #275919
Washington State Penitentiary
1313 North 13 th Avenue'

Walla Walla, WA 99362

Having obtained prior permission from the Spokane County Prosecutor's
Office, I also served the Respondent State of Washington at
scpaappeals@spokanecounty.org using the Washington State Appellate Courts'
Portal.

Dated this 27th day of Febmary, 2018.

1^4 -
ill S. Reuter, WSBA #38374
Nichols and Reuter, PLLC
Eastem Washington Appellate Law
PO Box 19203

Spokane, WA 99219
Phone: (509) 731-3279
admin@ewalaw. com



APPENDIX A



FILED

FEBRUARY 1, 2018
In the Office of the Clerk of Court

WA State Court of Appeals, Division III

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION THREE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

BEN ALAN BURKEY,

Appellant.

In the Matter of the Personal Restraint of

BEN ALAN BURKEY,

Petitioner.

No. 34093-7-III

(consolidated with
No. 34956-0-III)

UNPUBLISHED OPINION

Pennell, J. — After his original convictions were reversed for a public trial

violation,' Ben Alan Burkey was convicted of murder, kidnapping, conspiracy to commit

kidnapping, robbery, and assault, all in the first degree. He appeals his convictions and

has also filed a timely personal restraint petition. We affinn Mr. Burkey's convictions

and dismiss the petition. However, we remand for resentencing and con'ection of a

scrivener's en'or.

' State V. Burkey, No. 25516-6-III (Wash. Ct. App. May 21, 2015) (unpublished),
https://vvww.courts.wa.gov/opinions/pdf/255166.unp.pdf.
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FACTS

In September 2005, Rick Tiwater's murdered body was found in the woods of

north Spokane County. Forensic evidence led poliee to target their investigation on

Mr. Burkey. Eventually, law enforcement theorized Mr. Burkey arid another man named

James Tesch had assaulted and murdered Mr. Tiwater iri retaliation for Mr. Tiwater being

a perceived law enforcement informant or "sniteh." The assault against Mr. Tiwater

started during the evening at Mr. Burkey's home, where Mr. Burkey initially hit Mr.

Tiwater. Then, after being summoned to the home by Mr. Burkey, Mr. Tesch arrived and

continued the assault by kieking Mr. Tiwater, dragging him into the kitchen, and striking

him on the head with a ball peen hammer. With Mr. Tiwater unconscious, Mr. Tesch and

Mr. Burkey transported Mr. Tiwater to a remote wooded area where they continued their

fatal attack. By the time his body was discovered by law enforcement, Mr. Tiwater had

suffered several blunt force injuries as well as bums to his head, chest, and hands. Mr.

Burkey and Mr. Tesch were charged with several criminal offenses, including first degree

assault and first degree murder. The two men were tried separately.

Several witnesses testified to the events leading up to Mr. Tiwater's death. Some

of the witnesses from Mr. Burkey's initial trial in 2006 were unavailable for retrial in

2015. The State therefore obtained leave to present the witnesses' testimony through trial
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transcripts. Mi*. Burkey testified at his first trial, but not the second. At the second trial,

the State introduced transcript evidence of Mi\ Burkey's original testimony as part of its

case in chief.

Troy Fowler was one of the witnesses whose testimony was presented thi-ough a

transcript. Mr. Fowler said he was at Mr. Burkey's house with Mr. Tiwater and Mr.

Burkey on the evening of the murder. Mr. Tesch was not yet present. Mr. Fowler saw

Mr. Burkey strike Mr. Tiwater several times. He also heard Mr. Burkey call Mr. Tiwater

a snitch. Mi'. Fowler testified Mi'. Burkey called Mr. Tesch to come over and help figure

out if Mr. Tiwater was an informant. Mr. Fowler then left Mr. Burkey's home before Mr.

Tesch arrived. Mr. Fowler testified he talked to Mr. Burkey the next day. Mr. Burkey

said Mr. Tiwater had fallen into a campfire and would not be seen again.

The State also presented transcript testimony from Mr. Burkey's girlfriend, Patricia

Lascelles. Ms. Lascelles's testimony was less directly helpful to the State than Mr.

Fowler's testimony. Ms. Lascelles denied seeing Mr. Burkey strike Mr. Tiwater. She

also claimed Mi'. Burkey told Mr. Tesch to stop while Mr. Tesch attacked Mr. Tiwater

inside the home. But Ms. Lascelles also supplied testimony relevant to the State's theory,

in that she: (1) admitted Mr. Burkey had sent her to Mr. Tesch's home with instructions

to have Mr. Tesch come over, (2) described Mr. Tesch's attack on Mi'. Tiwater,
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(3) explained that Mr. Tesch and Mi*. Burkey drove off in Mr. Burkey's car with Mr.

Tiwater's hody in the back seat, (4) testified that Mr. Burkey and Mr. Tesch returned

home in the car the morning after the attack bearing bloody clothes and a golf club, but

without Mr. Tiwater, and (5) admitted she attempted to hide or destroy the bloodied

evidence at the direction of both Mr. Tesch and Mr. Burkey.

The police recovered physical evidence from Mr. Burkey's home that corroborated
(■

Ms. Lascelles's attempted destruction of evidence. They also obtained surveillance

footage from a nearby gas station showing Mr. Burkey and another man present with

Mr. Burkey's car around 5:00 a.m. the day after the attack began. Mr. Burkey did not

appear upset or disoriented in any way.

In statements presented to the jury through law enforcement witnesses and the

prior trial transcript, Mr. Burkey blamed Mr. Tesch for Mr. Tiwater's murder. Mr.

Burkey admitted he was present during Mr. Tesch's entire violent attack. However, Mr.

Burkey denied any involvement. Mr. Burkey explained he tried to tell Mr. Tesch to stop.

He also claimed he was fearful of Mr. Tesch and only agreed to help dispose of Mr.

Tiwater's hody and other evidence after Mr. Tesch thi-eatened to kill Mr. Burkey and his

son.
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When asked about Mr. Fowler's allegation that Mr. Burkey had hit Mr. Tiwater

prior to Mr. Tesch's arrival at his home, Mr. Burkey admitted to only minor wrongdoing.

Mr. Burkey said he slapped Mr. Tiwater after discovering Mr. Tiwater had used drugs in

front of Ms. Lascelles's son. Mr. Burkey claimed this incident was um-elated to Mr.

Tesch's later attack.

The jury convicted Mr. Burkey of all five pending counts. At sentencing, the trial

court found Mr. Burkey's convictions for first degree kidnapping (count II) and first ,

degi'ee robbery (count IV) merged with his first degree murder conviction (count I). The

trial court then imposed 548 months of confinement for the murder, with 68 months for

the kidnapping and 171 months for the robbery to run concurrently. The court further

imposed 51 months of confinement on the conspiracy charge (count III) and 123 months

for the assault (count VI), both to run consecutively with the sentence for count I. For the

deadly weapon enhancements, an additional 24 months was added to counts I, II, IV, and

VI, and 12 months was added to count III, with all these enhancements to run consecutive

to the base sentence. The court also imposed community custody teims of 36 months for

counts I and VI, and 18 months for count IV.

Mr. Burkey appeals. He has also filed a statement of additional grounds for

review, and a report as to continued indigency. A personal restraint petition filed by Mr.
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Burkey has been consolidated with his direct appeal.

ANALYSIS

Prior bad act evidence
t

Mr. Burkey claims his trial was tainted by the improper introduction of bad act

evidence. Specifically, he points to the State's evidence that Mr. Burkey had head-butted

Mr. Tesch's girlfriend in front of Mr. Tesch on the day of the murder. The State contends

the head-butting evidence was not presented for an improper character purpose. Instead,

it was relevant to refute Mr. Burkey's claim that he was fearful of Mr. Tesch and had not

willingly assisted with the murder. We agree with the State.

Otherwise inadmissible evidence can become relevant and admissible as a result of

defense trial tactics, including comments made in opening statements. State v. Rape,

101 Wn.2d 664, 686-88, 683 P.3d 571 (1984). That is what happened here. During

opening statement, defense counsel presented the theory that Mr. Burkey feared Mr.

Tesch and was merely a passive observer of Mi". Tesch's assaultive conduct. This theory

was further developed during cross-examination of the law enforcement witnesses who

had interviewed Mr. Burkey. Because the evidence that Mr. Burkey head-butted Mr.

Tesch's girlfriend in front of Mr. Tesch tended to show Mr. Burkey was not fearful of Mr.

Tesch, it was relevant to rebut the defense's theory of the case. The trial court did not



Nos. 34093-7-III; 34956-0-III

State V. Burkey

abuse its broad discretion in admitting this evidence.

Lack of unanimity jury instruction

Mr. Burkey argues for the first time on appeal that the trial court violated his right

to a unanimous verdict by failing to require juror agreement on which acts constituted the

crime of first degree assault. Mr. Burkey claims Mr. Tiwater had been assaulted

numerous times in the hours before his murder and any of the attacks could have

constituted first degree assault. According to Mr. Burkey, these circumstances required

the court to issue a unanimity instruction pursuant to State v. Petrich, 101 Wn.2d 566,

683 P.2d 173 (1984).

We disagree with Mr. Burkey's characterization of the record. A unanimity

instruction is required when the prosecutor presents evidence of several distinct acts, any

one of which could form the basis of a charged crime. Id. at 571-72. But that is not what

happened here. According to the State's theory of the case, the assault on Mr. Tiwater

was an ongoing crime that started in Mr. Burkey's home and then continued into the

woods. 3 Verbatim Report of Proceedings (VRP) (Dec. 14, 2015) at 595-96. The State

claimed Mr. Burkey was involved in the assault from the veiy beginning and that both

Mr. Burkey and Mr. Tesch were united in their effort to punish Mr. Tiwater for being a

snitch. Under these circumstances, the individual acts of violence pei-petrated against Mr.
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Tiwater constituted a continuing course of conduct. State v. Crane, 116 Wn.2d 315, 326,

804 P.2d 10 (1991); State v. Love, 80 Wn. App. 357, 361, 908 P.2d 395 (1996). As such,

no unanimity instruction was required. Crane, 116 Wn.2d at 326; Love, 80 Wn. App. at

361.

The State's theory of a continuing assault contrasted with the defense's theory that

there had been two separate assaults of Mr. Tiwater: (1) a minor assault by Mr. Burkey

(for which no charges had been brought), precipitated by Mr. Tiwater's use of drugs in

front of Ms. Lascelles's son, and (2) a separate major assault perpetrated solely by Mr.

Tesch. Given these opposing case theories, the lack of a unanimity instruction actually

helped Mr. Burkey. As written, the instructions required the jury to make an all or

nothing decision about Mr. Burkey's offense conduct, thereby increasing the odds of

reasonable doubt. Mr. Burkey was not prejudiced by the lack of a unanimity instruction.

Reversal is unwan-anted in these circumstances. See State v. Carson, 179 Wn. App. 961,

979, 320 P.3d 185 (2014), aff'd, 184 Wn.2d 207, 357 P.3d 1064 (2015).

Alleged nondisclosure of impeachment evidence

Mr. Burkey argues the State improperly withheld material impeachment evidence

pertaining to Patricia Lascelles's plea agreement with the State. We review this claim de

novo. State v. Mullen, 171 Wn.2d 881, 893-94, 259 P.3d 158 (2011).
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Some background is wan-anted prior to analyzing the merits of Mr. Burkey's

claim. As noted, the State presented Ms. Lascelles's testimony through a transcript from

Mr. Burkey's first trial. The transcript contains a cross-examination of Ms. Lascelles by

Mr. Burkey's prior attorney. During the cross-examination, no mention was made of Ms.

Lascelles's plea agreement with the State.

After Mr. Burkey was convicted at his second trial, his attorney filed a motion for

a new trial. Counsel claimed he had not been aware of Ms. Lascelles's plea agreement

until after trial. The attorney representing Mi-. Burkey at his second trial was not the same

individual who represented Mr. Burkey at his first trial.

The trial court held a hearing on Mr. Burkey's new trial motion. After reviewing

the parties' evidentiaiy submissions, the trial court found the State had disclosed Ms.

Lascelles's plea agreement to Mr. Burkey's initial trial attorney. 4 VRP (Jan. 29, 2016)

at 667-68; Clerk's Papers (CP) at 368-69. Accordingly, there had been no improper

withholding. 4 VRP (Jan. 29, 2016) at 668. The trial court also found that the attorney

who represented Mr. Burkey at his second trial could have easily discovered Ms.

Lascelles's plea agreement. Id. Thus, Mr. Burkey had not met the legal standard for

relief from his conviction.



Nos. 34093-7-III; 34956-0-III

State V. Biirkey

Based on the trial court's findings, which we review with deference, State v.

Davila, 184 Wn.2d 55, 74, 357 P.3d 636 (2015), it is apparent the State never withheld

exculpatory impeachment evidence. By disclosing Ms. Lascelles's plea agreement to

Mr. Burkey's initial trial counsel (the only attorney to ever cross-examine Ms. Lascelles),

the State disclosed sufficient information to enable Mr. Burkey to take advantage of any

exculpatory value from the plea agreement. Mullen, 171 Wn.2d at 896. Mr. Burkey was

therefore not deprived of his right to a fair trial. Reversal is unwamanted.

Sentencing issues and scrivener's error

The pailies agree on two sentencing errors as well as a scrivener's en'or in Mr.

Burkey's judgment and sentence. Because there is no dispute that these eiTors require

remand, our analysis is brief.

First, Mr. Burkey argues the trial court eiToneously imposed sentences for robbeiy

(count IV), kidnapping (count II), and murder (count I) after finding the three crimes

merged. We accept the State's concession that the multiple sentences imposed by the

court was error. See State v. Williams, 131 Wn. App. 488, 498, 128 P.3d 98 (2006).

Given the trial court's merger finding, the convictions for robbery and kidnapping should

have been set aside. No separate weapons enhancements were applicable. Nor were

tenns of community custody. Remand for resentencing is appropriate.

10
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Second, Mr. Burkey argues the community custody term imposed for his first

degree assault conviction violates the prohibition on ex post facto laws. At the time of

Mr. Burkey's 2005 offense conduct, the Sentencing Reform Act of 1981, chapter 9.94A

RCW, only contemplated a variable community custody term of 24-48 months. Former

RCW 9.94A.715 (2001), repealed by LAWS OF 2009, eh. 28, § 42(2); former WAC 437-

20-010 (2000). Since 2009, RCW 9.94A.701(l)(b) has mandated a term of 36 months for

a serious violent offense. LAWS OF 2009, ch. 375, § 5. Because application of the

mandatory 36-month term to Mr. Burkey violates the prohibition on ex post facto laws,

resentencing is appropriate. State v. Coombes, 191 Wn. App. 241, 250, 361 P.3d 270

(2015). At resentencing, Mr. Burkey should be subject to the laws in effect in 2005.

Finally, the jury convicted Mr. Burkey of first degree felony murder, which is a

violation of RCW 9A.32.030(l)(c). Yet, the judgment and sentence indicates Mr. Burkey

was convicted of premeditated murder under RCW 9A.32.030(l)(a). The parties agree

this was error. It shall be corrected at resentencing. See State v. Munoz-Rivera, 190 Wn.

App. 870, 895, 361 P.3d 182 (2015).

STATEMENT OF ADDITIONAL GROUNDS FOR REVIEW

Mr. Burkey raises five issues in his statement of additional grounds for review

(SAG). Each is addressed in turn.

11
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Ineffective assistance of counsel

Mr. Burkey argues he received ineffective assistance of counsel because his

attorney only had 17 days to prepare after he was told the State would be allowed to use

transcripts of testimony from the first trial. A claim of ineffective assistance requires

proof of deficient perfonnance and prejudice. State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 225-26,

743 P.2d 816 (1987); Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80

L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). Neither requirement has been met.

Mr. Burkey has not demonstrated deficient performance. There is no set period of

time for trial preparation that is indicative of deficient performance. United States v.

Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 104 S. Ct. 2039, 80 L. Ed. 2d 657 (1984). The transcripts at issue

here were short. No evidence indicates defense counsel had insufficient time for

preparation. To the contraiy, Mr. Burkey's trial counsel represented Mr. Burkey during

his initial appeal. In that appeal, Mr. Burkey made a sufficiency challenge to the State's

evidence. Given this circumstance, it is apparent that counsel had ample advance

opportunity to review Mr. Burkey's trial transcripts.

Mr. Burkey also fails to show prejudice. The record does not contain any

infonnation suggesting the outcome of Mr. Burkey's case would have been different had

counsel been given more time to prepai^e.

12
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Lack of cautionary instruction on accomplice testimony

Mr. Burkey next argues the trial court eiToneously failed to supply the jury with a

cautionary instruction regarding Ms. Lascelles's purported accomplice testimony. He

also argues defense counsel was deficient for not requesting such an instruction.

Mr. Burkey's substantive claim fails because a cautionary instruction is only

required when an accomplice's testimony is uncorroborated by other evidence. State v.

Harris, 102 Wn.2d 148, 155, 685 P.2d 584 (1984), overruled in part on other gi'ounds by

State V. McKinsey, 116 Wn.2d 911, 810 P.2d 907 (1991). Even assuming Ms. Lascelles

should be considered an accomplice, her testimony was amply con-oborated by physical

evidence and the testimony of other witnesses, including Mr. Burkey himself. Given

these circumstances, the failure to issue a cautionary instruction was not reversible error.

Harris, 102 Wn.2d at 155 ("If the accomplice testimony was substantially corroborated

by testimonial, documentaiy or circumstantial evidence, the trial court did not commit

reversible error by failing to give the instmction.").

Mr. Burkey also cannot show defense counsel perfonned deficiently by failing to

seek a cautionaiy instmction. Ms. Lascelles's testimony was largely favorable to Mi\

Burkey. The defense decision not to emphasize Ms. Lascelles's credibility problems was

reasonably strategic.

13
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Use of transcripts from first trial without determining reliability

Relying on Ohio v. Roberts, 448 U.S. 56, 65-66, 100 S. Ct. 2531, 65 L. Ed. 2d 597

(1980), Mr. Burkey argues the trial court violated his confrontation clause^ rights by not

detennining the reliability of Ms. Lascelles's transcript testimony prior to admission.

Mr. Burkey misapprehends the nature of the constitutional right to confrontation. The

standard for a defendant's confrontation rights is no longer set by Ohio v. Roberts. The

current law on confrontation rights is outlined in Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36,

68-69, 124 S. Ct. 1354, 158 L. Ed. 2d 177 (2004). Under Crawford, a testimonial

statement, such as testimony from a prior trial, may be admitted so long as the State can

show "unavailability and a prior opportunity for cross-examination." Id. at 68. This

standard has been met. There was no confrontation violation.

State's use of allegedly perjured testimony

Mr. Burkey's next argument is that the State violated his right to a fair trial by

knowingly using perjured testimony from Ms. Lascelles. See State v. Larson, 160 Wn.

App. 577, 594-95, 249 P.3d 669 (2011). The argument has already been addressed by the

trial court and the court detennined, based on substantial evidence, that there had been no

perjuiy. Given this circumstance, the State was entitled to rely on Ms. Lascelles's

^ U.S. Const., amend. VI; Wash. Const., art. I, § 22.

14
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testimony.

Impeachment evidence regarding Ms. Lascelles

Mr. Burkey claims his attorney should have attempted to impeach Ms. Lascelles's

credibility with evidence of a prior conviction, as contemplated by ER 609. Nothing in

the record shows Ms. Lascelles had been convicted of a previous crime that would be

relevant under ER 609(a). Accordingly, Mr. Burkey has not shown deficient

perfonnance. In addition, Ms. Lascelles's testimony was beneficial to the defense's

theory of the case. As a result, Mr. Burkey has failed to establish prejudice.

Cumulative or harmless error

Mr. Burkey last argues he deseiwes a new trial because of cumulative error.

State V. Greiff, 141 Wn.2d 910, 929, 10 P.3d 390 (2000). Because we find no error,

the cumulative error doctrine does not apply.

PERSONAL RESTRAINT PETITION

Ineffective assistance of counsel based on conflict of interest

Mr. Burkey contends his trial counsel labored under an unconstitutional conflict of

interest because counsel also represented a potential witness by the name of Teirance

Kinard. We reject this claim. Mr. Burkey has not met his burden of proving his counsel

provided ineffective assistance due to a conflict.

15
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To show a constitutional violation of the right to conflict-free counsel, "a

defendant must show that (a) defense counsel 'actively represented conflicting interests'

and (b) the 'actual conflict of interest adversely affected' his perfonnance." In re Pers.

Restraint of Gomez, 180 Wn.2d 337, 348-49, 325 P.3d 142 (2014) (quoting Cuyler v.

Sullivan, 446 U.S. 335, 350, 100 S. Ct. 1708, 64 L. Ed. 2d 333 (1980)). "An actual

conflict of interest exists when a defense attorney owes duties to a party whose interests

are adverse to those of the defendant." State v. White, 80 Wn. App. 406, 411-12,

907 P.2d 310 (1995); accord State v. Byrd, 30 Wn. App. 794, 798, 638 P.2d 601 (1981);

see also RPC 1.7. A "[p]ossible or theoretical" conflict of interest is "' insufficient to

impugn a criminal conviction.'" Gomez, 180 Wn.2d at 349 (quoting Cuyler, 446 U.S.

at 350).

Mr. Burkey has not pointed to any evidence indicating his interests were adverse to

Mr. Kinard's. Mr. Kinard was never implicated in the murder of Mr. Tiwater. Nor was

he a relevant witness.^ The charges that gave rise to defense counsel's representation of

^ Mr. Burkey claims Mr. Kinard could have testified about Mr. Burkey's lack of ill
will toward Mr. Tiwater. This testimony was of questionable relevance, particularly
given the fact that Mr. Kinard was not present at the time of the offense. To the extent
Mr. Kinard's testimony was relevant, it would have been readily impeachable based on
Mr. Kinard's criminal history. Defense counsel provided stronger evidence of Mr.
Burkey's lack of ill will toward Mr. Tiwater thi'ough the testimony of attorney Patrick
Stiley.

16
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Mr. Kinard had nothing to do with Mi". Burkey. Mr. Burkey's claim that defense counsel

may have nevertheless been facing a conflict is insufficient to overturn a conviction.

State V. Dhaliwal, 150 Wn.2d 559, 573, 79 P.3d 432 (2003).

State's use of Mr. Burkey's testimony from first trial

Mr. Burkey makes several claims regarding the State's use of his prior trial

testimony during its case in chief. Mr. Burkey does not challenge the admissibility of his

prior testimony. Instead, he makes less direct claims of error. None are persuasive.

First, Mr. Burkey complains defense counsel was ineffective because counsel did

not want Mr. Burkey to take the stand even after the court ruled Mr. Burkey's prior

testimony could be used in the State's case in chief. We reject this claim. Had Mr.

Burkey taken the stand, he could have been cross-examined based on any slight

inconsistency with his prior testimony. Defense counsel's recommendation that Mr.

Burkey exercise his right to remain silent on remand was reasonably strategic.
J

Mr. Burkey also argues he was prejudiced because a police detective read his

former testimony to the jury. But the jury was instructed to consider the testimony as if it

came from Mr. Burkey, not the detective. Jurors are presumed to follow the court's

instructions absent evidence to the contrary. State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 928, 155

P.3d 125 (2007). There is no such evidence here.
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Lastly, Mi\ Burkey suggests the use of his prior testimony forced him to choose

between remaining silent or testifying in order to stop a witness for the State from reading

his testimony. Mr. Burkey's reasoning is unfounded. Mr. Burkey's prior testimony was

admissible as a statement by a party opponent. ER 801(d)(2). As such, its admissibility

did not turn on Mr. Burkey's availability as a witness or decision to testify. Compare

ER 801(d)(2) (statement of party opponent not hearsay) with ER 804(b)(1) (prior witness

testimony admissible only if witness unavailable).

Alleged perjured testimony by Ms. Lascelles

This argument fails for the same reason noted in the analysis of the issue in

Mr. Burkey's SAG. There was no perjured testimony.

Incorrect accomplice liability jury instruction

Mr. Burkey argues the language of the jury instruction on accomplice liability

misstated the law for two reasons. First, he argues the jury was instructed it could convict

him as an accomplice if he acted with knowledge he was promoting any crime. He is

wrong. Mr. Burkey cites the following sentence from the accomplice liability instruction

as error: "A person is an accomplice in the commission of a crime if, with knowledge that

it will promote or facilitate the commission of the specific crime charged .. .." CP at 236

(emphasis added). Mr. Burkey complains about the emphasized language. But the
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instruction clearly goes on to say Mr. Burkey is only an accomplice if he had knowledge

his actions would promote the specific crime charged. This accords with the Washington

Supreme Court's requirements for the accomplice liability instruction. See State v.

Cronin, 142 Wn.2d 568, 578-80, 14 P.3d 752 (2000); State v. Roberts, 142 Wn.2d 471,

510-13, 14 P.3d 713 (2000).

Mr. Burkey also argues the jury instmction explained in a confusing manner what

it means to "aid" someone. Again, he is wrong. The instmction stated:

The word "aid" means all assistance whether given by words, acts,
encouragement, support, or presence. A person who is present at the scene
and ready to assist by his or her presence is aiding in the commission of the
crime. However, more than mere presence and knowledge of the criminal
activity of another must be shown to establish that a person present is an
accomplice.

A person who is an accomplice in the commission of a crime is
guilty of that crime whether present at the scene or not.

CP at 236.

This language clearly and unambiguously states what "aid" means for the puiposes

of accomplice liability. It then goes on to further explain that someone who is present at

the scene and ready to assist has provided aid, but merely being present without more is

not enough. The instruction then clarifies that presence is not always required. The

instruction proyides the general definition of "aid" and then some clarifying points. It is

neither confusing nor misleading.
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Alleged improper closing argument

A defendant bears the burden of showing that the prosecutor's comments are both

improper and prejudicial. State v. Lindsay, 180 Wn.2d 423, 430, 326 P.3d 125 (2014).

Alleged improper arguments by the prosecutor must be reviewed in the context of the

total argument, the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the argument, and the

instructions given. State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 85-86, 882 P.2d 747 (1994).

Mr. Burkey has provided quotations from different parts of the prosecutor's

closing argument and argues these statements were misconduct because they misstated

the evidence, were not supported by the evidence, and were otherwise improper. For

example, Mr. Burkey takes issue with the prosecutor's argument: "But that's the

individual that Mi-. Burkey was waiting for to back him up when they were finally going

to administer punishment to Mr. Tiwater." 3 VRP (Dec. 14, 2015) at 581. Mi-. Burkey

calls this a fabrication because the words "back him up" or "administer punishment" were

not used in the trial testimony. He is coiTect that those exact words were not used. But

Mr. Fowler testified Mr. Burkey called Mr. Tesch over to help figure out if Mr. Tiwater

was a snitch. A prosecutor has wide latitude in closing argument to draw reasonable

inferences from the evidence and express such inferences to the jury. State v. Hoffman,

116 Wn.2d 51, 94-95, 804 P.2d 577 (1991). The prosecutor's argument about backing up
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or administering punishment was a reasonable inference given Mi'. Fowler's testimony

and other testimony supporting the State's theory in general. Mi'. Burkey may disagree

with the State's inference, but that does not make the inference improper or the

prosecutor's actions misconduct. Mi'. Burkey presents 29 parts of the prosecutor's

closing argument alleging misconduct. All of his arguments have the same flaw as the

one above, ignoring the prosecutor's latitude to argue inferences from the evidence.

There was no misconduct here.'^

MOTION FOR PRODUCTION OF TRANSCRIPTS

Mr. Burkey argues the State should be compelled to produce the um'edacted

transcripts of his prior testimony to "assure that the record on appeal is sufficiently

complete." Motion for Production of Transcripts, In re Pers. Restraint of Burkey, No.

34956-0-III, at 2 (Wash. Ct. App. Jan. 3, 2017). But he does not explain how these

transcripts will aid this court's-review. The existing transcripts of the prior testimony

contain no gaps or omissions. Further, the record indicates the redacted portions of the

transcripts relate to objections that were raised during the first trial. Defense counsel

wanted to make sure any of those objections that needed to be preserved could be so, but

Mr. Burkey also argues defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object to
the alleged prosecutorial misconduct. Since there was no misconduct, there was likewise
no ineffective assistance for failing to object. State v. Larios-Lopez, 156 Wn. App. 257,
262, 233 P.3d899 (2010).
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neither of the parties wanted those objections read to the jury. The reason for the

redactions is adequately explained in the record, and Mr. Burkey has provided no other

justification for compelling production of unredacted transcripts.

APPELLATE COSTS

Mr. Burkey has complied with this court's general order by submitting a continued

indigency report, and has requested a waiver of appellate costs in his opening brief. We

grant the request.

CONCLUSION

We affirm Mr. Burkey's convictions, dismiss his personal restraint petition, and

deny the motion to compel production of transcripts, but remand for resentencing and

correction of the scrivener's error.

A majority of the panel has determined this opinion will not be printed in the

Washington Appellate Reports, but it will be filed for public record pursuant to

RCW 2.06.040.

Pennell, J.

WE CONCUR:

Siddoway, J. ^
//a>srvrv-'-N<-X " /C
Lawrence-Berrey, A.C.J.

(result only)
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